














	[image: img]
	Published by Howard Books, a division of Simon & Schuster, Inc. 1230 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10020

www.howardpublishing.com

The Election © 2006 by Jerome Teel



All rights reserved, including the right to reproduce this book or portions thereof in any form whatsoever. For information, address Permission Department, Simon & Schuster, 1230 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10020.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Teel, Jerome, 1967-

The election / Jerome Teel.

    p. cm.

ISBN-13: 978-1-4165-4262-9
ISBN-10: 1-4165-4262-0

1. Political Fiction. I.Title.

PS3620.E4355E44 2006

813’.6—dc22

2006048566

HOWARD is a registered trademark of Simon & Schuster, Inc.

Visit us on the World Wide Web:

http://www.SimonSays.com

Edited by Ramona Cramer Tucker

This novel is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places, and incidents either are the product of the author’s imagination or are used fictitiously. Any resemblance to actual events, locales, organizations, or persons, living or dead, is entirely coincidental and beyond the intent of either the author or publisher.





To my wife, Jennifer,

and our three wonderful children,

Brittney, Trey, and Matthew.





ACKNOWLEDGMENTS



I want to express my deepest gratitude to my parents, Carl and Nona Teel, who taught me I could accomplish anything I desired. Without their nurturing, instruction, and commitment to rearing three sons according to God’s Word, I never would have had the determination to succeed at anything, including writing this book.

Many thanks to my brothers, Alan and Patrick, and their precious families.

Special thanks to John and Mary Kaye Woods. Their encouragement, support, and friendship are priceless. And to Todd and Rhonda Herndon, who were there when the idea for this book was born.

Special thanks also to Terry Whalin. Terry, you never gave up, and for that I will always be grateful.

And to Howard Books, thanks for taking a risk on a new author…and his dream.








CHAPTER ONE



Staples Center, Los Angeles

Edward Burke sat confidently in the Green Room, waiting for his cue to go on stage. Green is an odd way of describing the room, he thought. The walls were linen white, and the tightly woven, crushed carpet was slightly darker. Even though he would only be using the room during the Democratic National Convention, he had demanded that it be completely renovated with new furniture. After all, the vice president of the United States expected certain comforts.

Every corner of the room was filled with campaign advisors, aides, and Secret Service agents. Some hoped to ride his coattails, Ed knew. Others genuinely believed in the Democratic party’s mission. Whatever their motivations, each person was essential to Ed’s presidential campaign—at least that was the way he’d made them feel.

Several aides were speaking on cell phones to other campaign workers who were not fortunate enough to attend the convention. Others huddled in groups of three or four and argued over office space in the future Burke White House.

Ed ignored the bustling activity. Compartmentalization was the psychiatric term for his gift. Reclining on a Corinthian leather sofa against the back wall, he felt calm, confident. As he scanned the speech he would deliver, his lips moved slightly with each word. Although the text would be fed to him through teleprompters positioned on both sides of the podium, he didn’t want to make any mistakes. Tonight was too important.

His anticipation of the night’s events was almost agonizing. He was like a child on Christmas Eve who couldn’t wait to open his presents the next morning. Ed wasn’t scheduled to make his appearance for at least another hour, but he couldn’t relax. He had to see what was happening on the convention floor.

Handing his speech to one of his aides—he didn’t know her name—he wove his way through the crowd toward the door to the corridor.

“Mr. Vice President, where are you going?” asked Ed’s campaign manager, Benjamin Tobias. The slightly balding Ben always wore a calm expression. But in spite of his outward appearance—short, a little thick in the middle—he was a man who always got things done. The kind of man Ed liked.

“I’ve got to see what’s happening, Ben,” Ed replied. “Be back in a minute.”

With that, Ed exited the Green Room into the wide, white-tiled corridor. Two Secret Service agents followed like obedient puppies. As Ed entered the hallway, he could hear the roar from the convention hall. As he drew closer, the noise grew louder. Several security guards and convention staffers loitered behind the stage but came to attention as Ed approached. He waved his hand to set them at ease and smiled broadly.

“This is exciting, isn’t it?” Ed said to a female intern who appeared nervous.

“Yes, sir,” she replied, eyes downcast.

Ed brushed by her with an affectionate pat on the shoulder and climbed the eight metal steps that led to the back of the stage. He peeked through the curtains at the sea of red, white, and blue that covered the convention floor. He had been to every Democratic National Convention since 1980, but this one was different. This year he was the main attraction.

The scene was chaotic. Riotous. It looked like utter confusion. But Ed reveled in it. He inhaled deeply, as if he were smelling the fragrance of a rose, and studied the activity in the convention hall. He saw hats of different shapes, sizes, designs, and colors. He quickly decided his favorite were the straw hats with Burke for President on the bands. Campaign buttons that would one day be collectors’ items covered the lapels of the conventioneers. Affixed to wooden handles, large posters with his picture were being waved by thousands of the party’s faithful. So many faces he did not know, nor did he care to know.

The DNC and Los Angeles had spared no expense in preparing for this August convention. It had cost $100 million. But Ed thought that was a small price to pay with all the world watching. Everything had to be perfect. A Jumbotron had been installed above the stage. Red, white, and blue bunting was draped from the walls. As he peered through the curtains, Ed saw the vertical signs with the names of all fifty states scattered throughout the crowd. The signs were used to section off the convention floor, and this year the delegation from Tennessee, his home state, commanded the area immediately in front of the stage.

Satellite hookups from every major television network consumed the corporate skyboxes that lined the upper rim of the hall. The news anchors sat with their backs to the convention stage, bright lights in their faces, and talked into television cameras three feet away. Ed knew they were attempting to predict the content of his speech. Most were not even close on their predictions. But a few—those chosen by Ed’s campaign to receive the skinny on Ed’s speech—would be reasonably accurate.

Immediately below the media skyboxes was the section reserved for the Democratic party dignitaries. Ed scanned the crowd and was pleased to see that every seat was occupied. He would receive a report later from one of his aides, telling him who was actually in attendance, but he wanted to see for himself. Those who failed to attend the convention, his convention, would be reminded of that failure. Ed also saw his wife, Millie, sitting on the front row in the middle of the upper section. Ed and Millie had worked their entire lives for the presidency.

As the roll call of states began, Ed stepped away from the curtain and headed back toward the Green Room. Soon he would garner enough votes to receive the nomination for president. Some last-minute preparations were needed before he appeared at the podium for his acceptance speech.

The crowd inside the Green Room glanced up at his return but quickly focused their attention on a television against the back wall as the delegates’ votes were counted. Ed watched, too, and listened as a representative from each state announced the delegation’s vote. A chill ran along his spine as representative after representative repeated a phrase he had longed for years to hear.

“Mr. Chairman, I am pleased and honored to announce that we cast all our votes for the next president of the United States, Edward Burke.”

The roll call continued until Ed’s vote tally neared the total needed to win the nomination. With less than ten votes needed to secure the nomination, the Michigan delegation yielded its turn to the delegation from Tennessee. A robust, gray-haired man, who served as the chairman of the Tennessee delegation, strode to a microphone. He paused to allow all the news networks an opportunity to focus their cameras on him before beginning to speak.

“Mr. Chairman,” he began. His voice boomed through the sound system with a slightly exaggerated Southern drawl. “The great state of Tennessee is proud to cast all its votes for its native son, Edward Burke.”

The horde in the Staples Center erupted into thunderous celebration. Balloons trapped near the ceiling by large nylon nets were released and fell like huge red, white, and blue raindrops. Confetti and streamers cluttered the airspace. Ear-damaging music burst from the mountains of speakers on both sides of the stage.

“Mr. Vice President!” screamed a female aide with a two-way radio in her hand.

Ed could barely hear her above the celebration in the Green Room but liked her determination.

“Mr. Vice President!” she screamed again. “It’s time to go.”

Ed took one last look in a mirror near the door to make sure his patriotic red tie was straight. This time when he left the room, he had a larger escort. From the top of his black hair to the bottom of his patent-leather shoes, Ed looked presidential—and he knew it. He buttoned the top two buttons of his navy blue suit as he walked briskly toward the ever-escalating roar. The sound drew him much the way the sirens’ song lured mariners of Greek mythology to their destruction. His pace quickened, causing his entourage to scramble to keep up. He bolted up the same steps he had tiptoed up earlier and was ready to burst onto the stage when a familiar voice stopped him.

“Not yet, Ed,” the voice said calmly. It was Ben. “Just another moment.”

The entire convention was scripted down to the very second. Ed’s campaign staff knew exactly when the maximum amount of the American population would be watching the convention on CNN or NBC or FOX. Everything had to go according to the script. Everything.

Ben placed his right hand on Ed’s shoulder. “Almost.” He stared at the synchronized watch on his left wrist and started the countdown. “Three, two, one. Now, Ed. Now,” Ben said at the precise second in the script for Ed’s appearance. Ben patted Ed on the shoulder, and Ed resumed his march toward the nomination.

The exultation on the convention floor was reaching its climax when Ed finally appeared on stage. The delegates greeted him like he was a conquering hero returning from battle. Ed waved triumphantly to the crowd with both hands and pointed to a few people on the floor, pretending to recognize them. He tried in vain to clap along with the music—but knew he was off beat—and embraced everyone on the platform as he made his way toward the podium to deliver his speech.

The nomination was really nothing more than a formality following the Super Tuesday primaries. The other candidates were out of issues and out of money. Ed had outspent all of them by a cumulative ten-to-one margin. It was impossible for anyone to compete with a vice president who had $50 million in his war chest before the campaign began. There had been ample time for Ed’s team to prepare the perfect acceptance speech.

At just the right instant in the script, Ed moved to the podium and motioned with both arms for the crowd to quiet down. Silence quickly descended. Ed smiled. It was as if his audience anticipated the very voice of God. And right now Ed felt close to delivering just that.

Ed began his eloquent speech, prepared by a team of the best writers money could buy. The speech touched on affirmative action, immigration, health care, and the rights of women. Ed talked about saving social security and improving schools. He reached out to the minority voters with his promise of increased urban revitalization. He even highlighted four different people in the audience and explained how their lives were better because of programs implemented by the current Democratic administration. Resounding cheers greeted practically every phrase Ed uttered. His speech was interrupted more times for ovations than any other acceptance speech in the history of the Democratic National Convention.

“Thank you. God bless you, and God bless America,” Ed shouted into the microphone as he completed his speech.

He stepped away from the podium and again raised his arms in triumph. The celebration resumed, and the crowd roared with approval, chanting his name for five minutes after the speech ended. On cue, his wife, Millie, moved onto the stage. The two stood proudly, arm in arm, waving to the thousands of supporters they did not know, packed into the Staples Center.

This was their coronation, and nothing was going to stand in their way to the White House.

 

Hyatt Regency hotel, Miami

The presidential suite had been converted into a makeshift war room. Economic data, poll results, and campaign-contribution reports cluttered every table as Shepard Taylor, the chief campaign strategist for the top Republican candidate, pored over the latest polling data from California.

Just two weeks earlier, in late July, Mackenzie Foster—Mac to his friends—stood on a stage in Philadelphia and accepted the Republican nomination to challenge Vice President Edward Burke in November. Shep knew he’d never forget the climax of that night. It was unlike anything he had ever experienced in all his years in politics, and he was certain the ultimate victory would be theirs. But Ed Burke would be a formidable opponent, and Shep searched through the campaign data for any glimmer of hope. He had known Mac a long time—had served as Mac’s chief of staff during his current tenure as Senate majority leader. Now Shep was heading up Mac’s bid for the presidency.

But the march through the primaries had been considerably more difficult for Mac Foster than for Vice President Burke. Mac’s campaign funds had been substantially depleted by the time he’d reached the Republican National Convention in July. Pollsters had begun pitting Mac against Ed Burke as soon as it was clear that each man would clinch his respective party’s nomination. Shep knew that the results hadn’t looked promising for Mac from the very first poll, and he trailed by 10 percentage points even before the Democratic National Convention. With the momentum the vice president would receive from the convention, it was naive to think that Mac could win California’s fifty-four electoral votes. So Shep, Mac, and the rest of the campaign team had decided to focus instead on Florida, Pennsylvania, New York, and Texas.

The war room in Miami this warm August night was far from the jubilation in Los Angeles. Mac had asked for it to be that way. The Hyatt would be their headquarters for a few days as Mac campaigned in Florida.

Since it was late, most of the campaign staff had retired for the night. Only Mac and his top two advisors still remained. Following completion of the vice president’s speech, they all looked despondent.

“Where is he getting all his money?” asked Jack Bennett, Mac’s running mate from Texas. He rubbed his tired eyes under his glasses and fretfully scratched his head through his white hair. Shep could see that the eldest member of the group was exhausted and frustrated.

All of them, and especially Shep, knew Edward Burke would be hard to beat, but no one said it. The economy was strong, and that meant the American people would likely vote to maintain the status quo. Burke was also pro-choice, and unfortunately for Mac, a large segment of the voters agreed with him. Shep knew that the biggest problem, however, was money, or the lack of it. The vice president had it. Mac didn’t.

Shep loosened his tie, propped his feet on the glass-topped coffee table, and stared at the ceiling. “He’s spending millions and millions on television and radio ads, and it never seems to run out,” he mused. “How is that possible?”

“Aside from the campaign funds, the soft money continues to pile up. At this pace he’ll have three hundred million to our two hundred million,” responded Jack.

Shep listened as Mac and Jack further discussed the vice president’s fund-raising prowess. He heard the concern in their voices. Mac was trailing in the polls, but Shep wasn’t about to concede defeat. And he knew Mac well enough to know that Mac wasn’t about to either. There were still three months until the general election, and anything could happen.

“The other Democratic primary candidates claimed Burke was receiving money illegally, but they could never prove it,” Mac began as he paced the room. He stretched his arms over the top of his six-foot-two frame, as if trying to chase the soreness from his muscles, then clasped his hands together on top of his salt-and-pepper hair. “The media likes him, so they’re not going to start turning over stones.”

He stopped his pacing and turned toward the night skyline just outside the glass doors of the balcony. “Somebody’s financing him. That’s the only answer. But we’ll never be able to prove it. The American people would turn against him if they found out he was selling the presidency to the highest bidder. I’m certain of it from what we’ve seen and tracked, but how can we prove it?” He shook his head in frustration and pivoted back toward his advisors.

Shep leaned forward in his chair, listening intently. He noticed that Jack followed suit.

“Perhaps we could get a congressional inquiry started,” suggested Jack, his brow furrowed in thought. “At least that would create some media interest, and we could put some spin on it after it breaks.”

Shep was surprised but pleased when Mac nodded slowly. Shep had worked with Mac a long time and knew that Mac rarely, if ever, authorized the investigation of an opponent. And he always refused to allow an opponent’s personal life to become the center of the campaign, no matter how devious his sins. Mac didn’t play dirty. He was a straight shooter. Honest. Hardworking. That’s why Shep was working day and night to get the man elected to the White House.

“I’ll call a couple of friends on the House Judiciary Committee,” Jack said.

“I can call in a few favors in the Senate,” Mac added.

All three agreed that something had to be done, and soon. They were getting ready to go head-to-head with a vice president with seemingly unlimited financial resources, and there was no way they could compete.

Shep studied Mac. He saw resolve in his strong, firm jaw and a fiery determination—a determination Shep shared—in his rich brown eyes.

“We can’t give up,” Mac commented, running a hand through his hair. “I firmly believe that God has placed us here, at this point in history, for a purpose. We must win. There is no other alternative.”

Shep didn’t verbalize his thoughts, but he, too, was convinced that Mac Foster had to win the presidency. After seeing the other option on television tonight, he abhorred even more the idea of Ed Burke winning. He glanced at his watch. Sleep was a rare commodity, and Shep could tell by the faces of his colleagues that they all needed it.

“We have a big day tomorrow. And if we’re going to catch Burke, we all need our rest. Let’s finish this discussion over breakfast,” Shep suggested.

Mac’s two advisers filed out of the presidential suite. Shep suspected that Jack would lie awake, wondering if Mac had any chance of winning. But Shep had other ideas. Even Republican pollsters were reporting that Mac was 10 percentage points behind the vice president. Doubts were beginning to creep in. Mac and his campaign staff needed something big to happen by mid-October, or they had no chance at victory.

And victory, Shep thought, is crucial. Especially right now. He loathed the thought of four more years of a Democratic White House. The country’s defenses would be depleted, and the United States would be vulnerable to nuclear-missile attacks from as far away as Asia. The probability existed that one or more Supreme Court justices would retire during the next administration, and Burke’s liberal appointments would shape the Court for the next thirty years. Shep just couldn’t let that happen. The hearts, minds, and souls of the next generation were at stake in this election.

Even so, Mac would not approve of what Shep was about to do.

Shep closed the door to his modest hotel room and hung his suit coat in the closet. It had been a long day and a longer night, and his body felt it. Every muscle ached. He splashed a handful of cold water on his face from the bathroom sink to rejuvenate himself and peered into the mirror. A tired face stared back at him. His once-parted sandy blond hair was now mussed from a hectic day of campaigning. His hazel eyes drooped from exhaustion, and he could feel the rough stubble on his face when he rubbed his eyes to keep them open for a few more minutes.

The clock on the nightstand read 2:00, but it didn’t matter to Shep. He had to make the call. He was convinced that the entire campaign hinged on what could be discovered about Ed Burke’s campaign fundraising. He scrolled through his PDA until he found the phone number he needed.

 

Washington DC

The first ring was intertwined into Dalton Miller’s recurring dream of being chased by the DC police through the streets of downtown Washington. The second ring jolted him from deep sleep, and he knocked his wireless phone from its resting place. It fell from the nightstand and landed loudly on the floor. His bedmate, the fourth in as many weeks, never flinched.

“Hello,” Dalton muttered after retrieving the phone from the floor and opening the lid.

“Dalton,” an anxious voice said, “this is Shep Taylor. I’m sorry to call at this hour.”

“That’s OK,” Dalton responded. His brain felt half asleep, and he had already returned to a horizontal position on the bed. But when he recognized the caller and heard the urgency in Shep’s voice, Dalton’s interest was immediately piqued. Something with a large fee was on the horizon, particularly if Shep Taylor was calling at this hour.

Dalton shook the sleep from his voice. “What can I do for you?”

There was a pause, then Shep admitted, “I need your help.”

Dalton smiled. He was known to be the best private investigator in Washington, DC. If information could be found, Dalton was confident he would find it. He could follow an unfaithful spouse and never be noticed. He knew dirt on more senators and representatives than anybody else, and he was proud of it.

“What kind of help?” Dalton asked.

Again a pause. “It involves the vice president and the election.”

Dalton sat up. Shep Taylor sounded desperate. Dalton knew the Foster campaign was behind in the polls, but were things really that bad?

“Can you help us?” Shep asked again.

Dalton glanced at the woman lying with her back to him on the other side of the bed. For the life of him, he couldn’t recall her name. “Hold on,” he added in a voice barely above a whisper. “I need to change rooms.”

Dalton left the warmth of his bed and stumbled through the darkness to a small office adjacent to the kitchen. “You realize it’s going to be expensive,” Dalton informed Shep when he was safely out of earshot of the woman in his bedroom.

“How much?” Shep inquired.

Dalton smiled again. The amount really didn’t matter, since his fees were always met. But it was logical to ask the question. “One million, plus expenses.”

“Agreed,” Shep responded without hesitation.

“I’ll also need protection. I am not taking a fall for your guy.”

“I’ll work on that.”

Was there hesitancy in Shep Taylor’s voice on that demand? Dalton wondered. But he wouldn’t let that issue stand in the way of a large payday.

“Anything else?” Shep asked.

“That’s it. Tell me what the job is.”

As Shep talked about their suspicions regarding the vice president’s fund-raising, the picture became clear to Dalton. Mac Foster’s staff needed to know who was funding Ed Burke’s campaign, and they needed to know quickly. Dalton was to communicate with Shep, and only Shep. Dalton could not tell anyone who employed him.

“This is important,” Shep urged. “I need you to give this top priority.”

“I’ll get started first thing this morning,” Dalton promised.

 

Hyatt Regency hotel, Miami

After Shep hung up the phone, he was more than ready for bed. His sleep tonight would finally be restful. The best he’d had since Mac clinched the Republican nomination in the April primaries.








CHAPTER TWO



Apollyon Associates, Inc., lower Manhattan

As the presidential election loomed, the Federalists’ meetings on the top floor of the Apollyon Associates, Inc. headquarters became more frequent. They had been close to their goal once before, but their technology had not been complete.

Nor had it helped that pictures of their candidate in the arms of a woman other than his wife had appeared in the Washington Post. That candidate, John Franklin, was a former governor of Florida. Only a few weeks after losing the presidential election four years ago, he died—apparently of a heart attack. Everyone assumed he succumbed to the pressures of defeat, so no autopsy was performed. If one had been, it would have revealed traces of an obscure Asian toxin known to cause cardiac arrest if taken orally.

The name Federalists was a self-appointed title adopted by this trio of American businessmen, but their political beliefs were far from academic federalism. It was more a hybrid of globalism and plutocracy. A one-world government, but controlled by three multinational companies. And not just any companies, but companies owned by the Federalists. Through their companies, they had sufficient resources to control the world’s financial markets and its communications. If the Federalists succeeded, they could force every country in the world to submit to their authority. A heady, powerful thought indeed.

“Good afternoon, Mr. Winston,” the receptionist said as William Randolph Winston IV entered the lobby through the revolving front doors of the Apollyon headquarters.

Randolph glanced down for a moment. It was still evident that he had been athletic as a young man, but his age was beginning to gain on him. He was slightly overweight, and his black hair was beginning to gray around the fringes. His face was clean-shaven, with the exception of a small goatee. Although he considered himself charming and others agreed, he had never married. A wife and family would have been unnecessary distractions in his trajectory of success.

“Good afternoon,” he returned and energetically made his way into a waiting elevator that would transport him to the top-floor conference room.

Randolph Winston was from old East Coast money, and the Federalists’ plan had been his idea, born while the three men were classmates and fraternity brothers at Harvard. When his father passed away, Randolph inherited his family’s fortune and used it to create a company that ultimately became the exclusive licensing agency for Internet users’ identification numbers.

Each time a computer user tried to open an account for Internet access, regardless of what company provided the access, he or she was asked to provide a name, street address, e-mail address, and other statistical information, which was transmitted to Apollyon Associates headquarters via the Internet. Most users provided the requested information without any thought about its ultimate destination. They had no way of knowing that a computer file was being created about them at Apollyon.

In return for providing the needed information, the user would be assigned a ten-digit user-identification number. This number would be transmitted to the user after an account was registered with Apollyon. Each time the user logged in to the Internet, the Internet access provider would ask for the user’s number. The number had to be entered or access was denied.

Once the user was logged in, Apollyon was able to track which Web sites the individual user visited, what purchases he or she made online, and the content of e-mails sent and received. This information was then stored in the user’s computer file at Apollyon headquarters. Randolph knew that 99 percent of all Internet users were not sophisticated enough to realize how much his company would be able to intrude into their lives through their home computers.

By the time they did realize, it would be too late.

A company intern brought Randolph a cup of coffee while he waited for his two partners. He could relax because his part of the plan was in place. His trip to the West Coast had been successful. He would report to his partners that the technicians at the research and development division had completed the newest software in the Apollyon arsenal. A smile formed as he remembered the clever name he had given the new software: Cannibal.

The access numbers assigned to users could now be required each time they wanted to purchase groceries or gasoline, go to the doctor, or pay their utility bills—whether using the Internet or not. The user number would become the most important set of numbers in a person’s life, more important than a social security number, a driver’s license number, or a telephone number. It would become a person’s signature, or mark, and soon every person in the world would be unable to even purchase basic necessities without it.

That is, if the Federalists accomplished their mission. And Randolph Winston was determined they would do just that.

The opulent conference room at Apollyon was dimly lit at Randolph’s direction. He couldn’t tolerate much light. He sat at the end of the conference-room table and sipped his coffee. His expensive taste was evident from the décor. The furniture was the rarest antiques. The paintings that lined the walls would make the curators at The Metropolitan Museum of Art in New York envious. Randolph’s father had once told him that to be successful, he had to look successful. Randolph considered the room. He certainly looked successful. His father would have been proud of him.

“Mr. Winston,” the receptionist’s voice interrupted over the telephone intercom, “Mr. Montgomery is here to see you.”

“Send him up,” Randolph ordered. Finishing the last of his coffee, he walked toward the conference-room door to meet his compatriot.

Pierce Anthony Montgomery was slightly taller than Randolph, and his navy blue double-breasted suit was tailored to fit his tall frame. Unlike Randolph, Pierce managed to maintain his athletic physique. Racquetball three times a week at the athletic club downtown helped him stay in shape, he had told Randolph. Even though Pierce was nearing fifty, he still combed his black hair from front to back and kept it in place with a styling gel that gave his hair a wet sheen.

Pierce was the founder and controlling stockholder of TransWorld Communications, Inc., the world’s largest telecommunications and media conglomerate. Pierce, a self-made billionaire, was confident, bordering on arrogant. He was shrewd. Driven. The current Mrs. Montgomery was his third wife. And Randolph knew she would soon realize, like the ones before her, that Pierce was actually married to TransWorld, or, more accurately, to the Federalists.

Through holding companies, subsidiaries, and foreign corporations, TransWorld had secretly acquired satellites that controlled 60 percent of all the world’s wireless communications and 80 percent of all Internet and broadband communication cables. The communication companies TransWorld didn’t own were insignificant and would dismantle soon after the Federalists’ ascension to power.

Telephone calls from New York to London either traveled through TransWorld’s cables or were relayed through TransWorld’s satellites. News events that happened in France or South Africa were disseminated through TransWorld’s media outlets to the rest of the world. The Federalists had at first planned to isolate allies through TransWorld’s infrastructure but then realized that complete isolation would be virtually impossible. But Randolph convinced his partners not to worry about the fact that each country maintained its own secure communications. He had demonstrated that TransWorld could create a temporary disruption in communication among world leaders, giving the Federalists time to fully implement their plan. Creating such a disruption was one key to the Federalists’ plan, and TransWorld held that key.

Randolph greeted Pierce as he entered the room. The two men shook hands firmly.

“How are you, my friend?” Randolph asked.

“Fine,” replied Pierce civilly. “And how was your trip?”

“The flight was fine,” replied Randolph. “We made it to LaGuardia from LA in just under six hours.”

“Burke’s looking good in the polls. Do you think he can hang on to his lead?”

Randolph winced. Already Pierce had changed the subject to the weakest link in the plan. There was no legitimate chance of success unless the Federalists obtained control of the White House.

“He’s scoring points with Hispanic voters with his promise to open the Mexican border to more immigration,” responded Randolph, as if Edward Burke was Harvard’s star quarterback rather than the man projected to be the next president of the United States. “The African American supporters are ecstatic over his position on affirmative action. He’s promising to fill vacant judicial seats with minority jurists and, of course, we will tell him who those will be. The economy is still strong, and that keeps the middle class satisfied. We just can’t have any surprises like last time.”

The receptionist’s voice interrupted their conversation—this time to announce the arrival of Milton Hawthorne McAdams.

Randolph knew it would be more difficult to convince Milton than Pierce that a problem had to be eliminated for the good of the cause. But he also knew Milton believed in their cause as much as, or more than, Randolph did and that he would agree the presidential race was too important to take the risk of being exposed.

Again the elevator doors opened, and Milton McAdams strolled across the hall to the conference room. He was shorter than the other two men, slightly slimmer, and almost completely bald. The few wisps that remained of his prematurely gray hair gave him a dignified, fatherly appearance. He wore a conservative gray suit, white shirt, dark tie, and wingtip shoes.

Milton controlled the largest bank in the world, World Federal Bancshares. Its headquarters were in New York, but it had offices in Tokyo, Hong Kong, Sydney, and London. Over the last several years his brokers had been acquiring large positions in all the world’s currencies. Very discreetly World Federal had cornered the market on the dollar, the yen, and the euro. Through its sophisticated maze of subsidiaries, it had acquired more Treasury notes guaranteed by the United States than all other banks and individuals combined.

With these acquisitions came the ability to manipulate the bond market and, therefore, long-term interest rates. Milton had explained to Randolph that it was a simple case of supply and demand. A few days after Edward Burke’s inauguration, Milton’s brokers would be instructed to begin dumping bonds on the Chicago market, driving bond prices down. Long-term rates would soar, causing widespread panic and selling on Wall Street. Then the Federalists would ride in like white knights to save the world economy…at a price, of course. Randolph, Milton, and Pierce had all agreed it was a great plan.

World Federal was also the largest issuer of credit cards. It had for years issued credit cards to unemployed college students. It wasn’t as much of a risk to Milton’s company as it sounded, since a student’s parents would pay the bill, if necessary, to protect their child’s credit rating. But Randolph knew that Milton didn’t really care whether the debt was repaid or not.

The purpose of issuing credit cards to consumers, whether they qualified or not, was to condition the population to accept that credit cards were the same as currency. Anything could be purchased with a credit card—from groceries to pet food to furniture to automobiles. When the Federalists assumed world control, cash as a form of payment would no longer be accepted.

“Randolph, Pierce, how are you?” asked Milton, shaking hands.

“We are both well,” responded Pierce, his voice deep and rich.

“Shall we sit down?” Randolph suggested as he moved toward the table in the center of the room.

Randolph began the meeting by describing the new Cannibal software, the user numbers, and how the software worked into their plan. Pierce and Milton listened intently as Randolph described how computer chips with the Cannibal software could be implanted into Milton’s credit cards.

“You see,” Randolph explained, “we are close to world supremacy.” Pierce and Milton nodded in agreement, and Pierce smiled broadly.

“Everything appears to be in place,” Pierce noted after Randolph’s presentation. “We are closer than we’ve ever been to reaching our goal. We can’t let anything interfere with our objectives, and we can’t take any risks. That being said, what do you think we should do with James Davidson? Do you think he’ll keep quiet about us?”

“It was brilliant on our part to have both a Republican and Democratic candidate,” Randolph replied. “Davidson came close, but he simply couldn’t generate the excitement and support in the Republican party that Burke did among the Democrats. Davidson is of no value to us since he lost the Republican nomination to Foster.”

Randolph caught the other two Federalists’ eyes as he continued. “There’s really no need to keep Senator Davidson around. He knows too much about our plans. I, for one, don’t trust him. I think it’s time he met a fate similar to Governor Franklin’s.”

Milton and Pierce were both silent. They looked away from Randolph’s penetrating glare.

“We’re in agreement then,” Randolph announced when there was no debate. “I’ll make the arrangements.”

“Is that all for today?” Milton asked as he stood to leave.

“We do have one other problem that needs to be addressed,” stated Randolph matter-of-factly.

“Go on,” insisted Milton as he returned to his seat.

Randolph watched each of his partners intently as he described the last remaining obstacle to world domination and recommended how to eliminate it. He watched carefully for any sign of disagreement. Pierce was of no concern; the man wasn’t brave enough to cross Randolph. If there were to be a problem, it would come from Milton.

The room grew momentarily silent when Randolph finished speaking. Pierce’s face showed only submission. However, Milton—as expected—appeared concerned. But since Randolph was convinced of the problem’s resolution, he refused to be challenged. He set his face in its most unwavering expression to convey an unspoken message to Milton: On this issue there is no other option. We must follow my recommendation for our own safety…and the implementation of the plan.

“Collateral damage?” Milton inquired. Looking anguished, he rubbed his nearly bald head.

“It will be kept to a minimum,” assured Randolph. He discerned Milton’s capitulation and knew his message had been received. A small assurance, and the pact would be sealed. “We only desire to eliminate the problem, not create new ones.”

Milton stood up, put his coat on, and left the room without saying good-bye to Randolph or Pierce. Randolph knew that nothing else would be said, or needed to be said. The matter was closed. The last remaining obstacles would soon be removed.

After Milton left, Randolph placed a call, dialing the number from memory. Only a few words were spoken. But with those few words, the process to eliminate what the Federalists believed to be their last remaining obstacles was set in motion.








CHAPTER THREE



Reed residence, Jackson, Tennessee

Jake Reed would have preferred to hear the sounds of activity, but that was too much to ask this Monday morning. It was only the second full week of the school year, and his children were not yet accustomed to the early-morning wake-up call after a summer of leisure. He was partially dressed—trousers and undershirt—when he looked at the clock on his nightstand and realized it was already seven fifteen. Jake hated being late.

Rachel, his wife, always awoke before Jake. He slept while she had her morning devotion time and until after she had prepared lunches for the kids. She got the kids started on breakfast, let the dog out for his morning constitutional, and then took a shower. Most days Rachel took the kids to school. But on Mondays she went to a women’s Bible study at a local church, and carpool duty fell to Jake. He found Rachel in front of the bathroom mirror, getting ready for the day. Rachel had a running feud with one little twirl of hair in the front, and it always took at least thirty minutes each day to either defeat it or surrender. And Jake knew that surrender was rarely an option.

“Do you think you can help hurry the kids up?” Jake asked Rachel as he squinted over her shoulder into the bathroom mirror and manipulated his necktie. His six-foot-one-inch frame made it easy for him to see himself over her. “We’re already going to be late.”

“I’m almost ready,” Rachel replied. “And then I’ll go check on them. Just settle down. You’ve got plenty of time.”

Jake saw her glance at his image in the mirror.

“That tie doesn’t match your suit by the way,” she added.

“What do you mean it doesn’t match?” He frowned.

“I mean it doesn’t match. You need to find one with blue in it.”

“I don’t have time to change.” Frustrated, Jake began looking for the kids to evaluate their level of readiness. “Have you even brushed your teeth?” he asked Courtney when he met her coming down the stairs, still in her pajamas. “We’re running late.”

Courtney was the oldest of the three children. The other two were boys: Brett and Jeremy. Courtney was nine going on nineteen and decorated her room with the latest teen singing sensation. Brett and Jeremy were in the process of redirecting their attention, and inextinguishable energy, from summer-league baseball to schoolyard football.

Courtney had her mother’s auburn hair and blue eyes; Brett and Jeremy, their father’s brown hair and brown eyes. All three were a deep bronze from a summer of countless hours at the country club swimming pool.

“Dad,” Courtney retorted, “I’m way ahead of you. It’s the boys who are wasting time.”

Jake wasn’t crazy about the attitude in her voice, but he realized she was right. Charging up the stairs, he found Brett rummaging through his dresser for his favorite shirt.

“Brett, will you please just put on the clothes Mom laid out for you last night?” Jake said as he watched from Brett’s door. He meant it more as a directive than a request.

“But Dad,” Brett whined, “I don’t like that shirt. It looks like a girl’s shirt, and all my friends will laugh at me if I wear it.”

Jake knew his response had to be forceful, or they’d never get out the door. “I don’t have time to argue with you. Just put it on.”

Jake retraced his steps down the staircase and returned to the kitchen. That’s where he found Jeremy, still in his pajamas, his face nearly buried behind a big bowl of cereal as he watched the television on the counter.

“C’mon, Jeremy, time to get dressed,” Jake insisted as he strode toward the master bedroom to finish dressing. He glanced back. Jeremy never took his eyes off the television.

“Honey, can you help me with Jeremy?” Jake pleaded as he entered their bedroom to heed Rachel’s advice and change neckties.

Rachel was now standing in their walk-in closet, selecting her attire for the day.

“We’re never going to make it to school on time,” Jake finished.

She rolled her eyes at his impatience.

But Rachel had a way with Jeremy, Jake knew. Probably because Jeremy was the baby of the family. Whatever the reason, she was always able to coax him into compliance. So Jake was glad when she slipped her slender figure into a pair of blue jeans and a T-shirt bearing the logo of the Tennessee Titans and went to try some motherly diplomacy on Jeremy and the other two kids.

Finally the children were ready. Backpacks were filled and zipped. Lunch boxes were packed, and everyone appeared to have on clothes that actually matched. Brett needed to run a comb run through his hair, but if that was the biggest omission, then they were OK. They might make it to school on time after all, thought Jake.

“Shotgun,” screamed Brett as the children bounded down the steps into the garage.

“But you were in the front seat last time,” Courtney yelled.

There was only one way to solve the argument. “Everyone is riding in the backseat,” Jake pronounced.

When he glanced at Rachel, who stood at the door, he knew dismay was written all over his face. Rachel gave a wry grin and waved good-bye. He couldn’t help but chuckle to himself as he climbed into the driver’s seat and saw the kids through the rearview mirror trying to get their seat belts fastened. He reached into the backseat and helped Jeremy with his seat belt, then looked back at Rachel again.

Jake could see Rachel laughing as he backed the car out of the garage. He smiled at her and waved good-bye before pressing the remote control to close the garage door.

Jake drove a four-door Volvo 860 Turbo. Burgundy with tan leather interior. Seat warmers were standard, but they wouldn’t be needed for a few more months yet. It was a safe, practical car, but had just enough yuppie in it to impress his friends.

After delivering the children to their assigned destinations, Jake began the short drive to his office. The traffic was lighter than normal for a Monday morning. He had the air-conditioning system set to its highest level, because the August heat was oppressive, and Jake didn’t like the feeling of his perspiring back sticking to the leather seat. West Tennessee was in the middle of a summer-long drought, and the clear, blue sky meant at least one more hot and humid day without rain.

The radio in Jake’s car was always set to the local talk-radio station. Today’s topic was last week’s Democratic National Convention. Jake turned the volume down and finished the drive in silence. He preferred to stay away from politics. The hypocrisy made him sick to his stomach.

Jake’s office was half a block off the court square in downtown Jackson. Convenient to the courthouse but impossible for clients to find a parking place. He had heard that complaint more than once.

He turned left onto Main Street, which led past his front door. The office was located in a row of buildings with common walls, much like the old part of Williamsburg, Virginia. The exterior was stucco and the color of eggshells. The hunter green front door proclaimed Holcombe & Reed, Attorneys-at-Law on a brass plaque. The building, once a funeral home, still maintained several of its characteristics. Barrett Holcombe, Jake’s partner, jokingly told people that dead bodies were no longer kept in the basement, just dead files.

Jake turned left into an alley just past the dry cleaner’s, drove along the end of the row buildings, then took another left into the parking lot behind his office. Not many of the office buildings in downtown came with employee parking, and Jake was glad his law firm was one of them. He pulled into the parking space marked Reserved for Mr. Reed. His space was the second one from the back door. Barrett used the closer space.

Jake popped his wireless phone from the hands-free dash mount, grabbed his dictation recorder from the console, and exited the Volvo. The back door to the office required a key for access, and Jake fumbled with his set until he found the right one. Jake had learned early in his career that lawyers never enter through the front door of their own office, for fear that the one client they do not want to see is sitting in the lobby. Once safely inside, he zigzagged through the hallways toward his office in the back right quadrant.

“Good morning, Jake,” his assistant warmly greeted him as he rounded the last corner.

Madge Mayfield was in her midfifties. She had been a legal assistant for thirty years and had been working for Jake the last five. She was widowed, slightly overweight, and always dressed professionally, even on casual day at the office. Her brunette hair was peppered with gray, and eyeglasses dangled from a thin chain around her neck.

“Good morning, Madge,” Jake replied as he walked into his personal office and hung his coat in the closet. “What do we have this morning?”

“You have a real-estate loan closing for Jackson National Bank at ten and a meeting about probating the Thomas estate at eleven-thirty. There’s also a meeting on your calendar at nine this morning with Mr. Jedediah McClellan, but I’m not sure what it’s about.”

Jedediah McClellan. Jake repeated the name in his head. Everybody who knew him called him Jed. Jake had helped Jed with a workers’ compensation claim a few years earlier. Jed had received a nice settlement, Jake got a big fee, and everybody was happy. That’s the way Jake liked his fees—big.

“I spoke to Jed last week,” Jake remembered. He had set the appointment himself. “He told me he was having trouble with the mortgage on his house. I told him I would take a look at it. I believe the note is held by Jesse Thompson’s bank, but I’m not certain. If it is, then Jesse is probably robbing Jed blind. I doubt there’s anything I can do about it, except to help Jed file bankruptcy.”

Jake didn’t plan on his meeting with Jed lasting very long. He had more important things to attend to today. “What else do we have?” he asked Madge as he shuffled through the morning’s mail.

“That’s it for the morning,” she replied. “You have a couple of appointments after lunch.”

“Hold my calls, and let me know when Jed gets here. I’m going to try to finish some dictation.” He laid the unopened mail on Madge’s desk and returned to his office, closing the door behind him.

The interior of Jake’s office was tastefully decorated but not too elaborate. A mahogany desk with matching credenza and bookcase rested against the wall opposite the door. The bookcase contained law-school books Jake had never used since then and also displayed pictures of Rachel and the children. Two wingback chairs, supposedly for visitors, were covered with stacks of files. On one corner of his desk sat a telephone and an antique brass lamp Jake had purchased at an estate sale a couple of years earlier. The entire desk surface was cluttered with various drafts of letters, court documents, unopened mail, Post-it notes, and file folders.

The walls in Jake’s office were adorned with prints of lawyer-related paintings and pictures drawn by his kids. “The Brag Wall,” as lawyers called it, displayed his college and law-school diplomas, and his license to practice law.

T. Jacob Reed had graduated from the University of Tennessee in May 1992. He and Rachel had begun dating while both were sophomores and had married the summer after graduation. Rachel’s shoulder-length auburn hair, striking blue eyes, and long legs had made her one of the most desired girls on campus. Jake considered himself lucky to have married her.

After their wedding Jake and Rachel moved to Nashville so Jake could attend law school at Vanderbilt University. He had excelled and graduated magna cum laude in May 1995. There were offers from large firms in Atlanta, Georgia, and Charlotte, North Carolina, and Jake wanted to pursue them. But Rachel persuaded him that Jackson, Tennessee, her hometown, was a better place to raise a family. He knew she was probably right. However, the glamour of the big law firms still intrigued Jake. At times he wondered what it would have been like had he gone to Atlanta or Charlotte.

Barrett Holcombe had been practicing law for twenty-two years when Jake graduated from law school and came to work with him in May 1995. They were both glad when Jake passed the bar exam in July of that year. It was Barrett who taught Jake how to make a comfortable living as a lawyer in a small town. Five years later Barrett offered Jake a full partnership, and their two-man practice had thrived ever since.

“…and that letter needs to be faxed to Judge Prickett’s secretary so maybe we can finalize the court approval later this week,” Jake spoke into the dictation machine. “Finally I need to prepare a letter to the attorney for—”

“Jake, Jedediah McClellan is here to see you,” interrupted Madge over the phone’s intercom.

“OK,” Jake responded, turning off the recorder. “I’ll be right out.”

Jake couldn’t believe it was nine o’clock already and wondered if he could finish his appointment with Jed by nine thirty. If so, he’d have time to complete his dictation before his ten o’clock real-estate closing.

Jake left his office and headed down the narrow hall to the front lobby. The old wooden floor creaked with each step. He opened the door to a small but lavishly decorated lobby and found Jed McClellan perched on the settee against the wall near the receptionist’s counter.

“Jed,” he called, “come on back to my office.”

Jedediah McClellan was an imposing African American, six-feet-four and muscular. His large hand, calloused from years of manual labor, engulfed Jake’s when they shook hands. Jed was already dressed for his job at the Delta Faucet plant east of town. He wore the company-issued navy blue shirt with a patch bearing his name over the pocket, matching pants, and brown, steel-toed work boots.

Jake knew Jed had played high-school football in Jackson because some of the local die-hard football fans still talked about the catch Jed made to defeat rival Marshall County High School for the conference championship. Jed had blown his knee out his freshman year at the University of Mississippi, so he’d become disposable. He returned to Jackson without completing a college education and began working at one of the local plants. That was almost eleven years ago.

“How are Ruth and the kids?” Jake asked as they entered his office. He removed a stack of manila file folders from one of the chairs.

“They’re fine.” Jed sat in the now-vacant seat. “But this thing with Jesse Thompson’s got me and Ruth down.”

When Jake saw the angry flush in Jed’s light-brown complexion at just the mention of Jesse Thompson’s name, he prodded Jed to tell him the whole story. Jed began by explaining how he had inherited his grandfather’s house after the old man’s death. Then, several years ago, Jed needed $10,000 and went to First National Bank for a loan. Mr. Thompson said he was glad to help him and asked if he had any collateral. Sure, Jed said, and he told the banker about the house. Mr. Thompson asked Jed to sign a few papers and then gave Jed the money. Jed didn’t know what he was signing. He never read the papers. Ever since then he had been making payments on the loan. But this past spring he’d been out of work for a couple of months and got behind.

“If you missed some payments, then the bank has a right to foreclose,” Jake commented matter-of-factly.

“What he’s doin’ ain’t right, and you know it. I swear I didn’t know what I was signin’.” Jed pounded his right fist into his left hand.

Was Jed’s anger directed at Jesse Thompson or at himself? Jake wondered.

He listened as Jed talked about his family and where they would go if they lost their home. He didn’t have the money to pay Thompson to stop the foreclosure, and he couldn’t borrow it from any of his family. He couldn’t afford to rent because that would be more than his payment to the bank, and he refused to consider taking his family to a shelter. When Jed’s voice began to crack, he paused to gather himself before continuing.

“Anyway, it was my grandaddy’s house, and I ain’t lettin’ Jesse Thompson get it.” Tears welled up in the big man’s eyes. He repeatedly wiped them, but several managed to escape down his cheeks.

Jake sat silently, watching Jed. Jake knew he couldn’t stop what Jesse Thompson was going to do: foreclose on Jed’s house. It may not be right, but it was legal. And nothing was going to change that.

“What do you want me to do?” asked Jake.

“I want you to sue him for me, that’s what. He’s committin’ fraud, or somethin’, and I know he can’t get away with that.”

Jake sighed inwardly. How are you going to get out of this one? he asked himself. He couldn’t sue Jesse Thompson or First National Bank. Jesse had too much influence in town, not to mention money. The man could easily ruin a lawyer’s reputation.

“How do you plan on paying me, Jed? It’s going to take a sizeable retainer for me to get involved in this mess.”

Jed’s eyes narrowed. “How much you talkin’ about?”

“Five thousand dollars.”

“C’mon Jake, you know I ain’t got that kinda money. Can’t you get your money from Thompson when we win? ’Cause I know we’re gonna win.”

“Even if you win, I don’t think the court is going to make Jesse pay my fee,” Jake said in a calm tone.

“If you won’t help me, and the law won’t help me,” Jed announced, his voice rising, “then I’ll have to handle things my own way.” The muscles on the sides of his face flexed as he gritted his teeth and clenched his fist. “I know where he lives, and if I have to kill him, I will. I’d rather go to jail than let him get away with this.”

“Jed, don’t talk like that. Someone other than me might hear you, and I know you don’t mean it.”

“I do too. He ain’t gettin’ away with this.”

Jake knew that Jed could kill Jesse Thompson if he really wanted to. Jed had a history of violence. He had been in a brawl several years ago at the Bad Dog Saloon, where he broke the jaw of a man who was flirting with his wife. Witnesses said that if a couple of men had not held Jed back, he would have killed the guy.

Jake surrendered. “All right, Jed. I’ll call Jesse and talk to him. I’m not promising anything, but I’ll see if I can convince him to stop the foreclosure. When is it scheduled?”

“Wednesday at noon.”

Jake wrote Jed—foreclosure on Wednesday on a yellow legal pad so he would remember to call Jesse Thompson later that day. He didn’t know what good it would do, since Jesse was known for playing hardball. But then at least Jake could tell Jed that he’d tried.

“Thanks a lot, man.” Jed stood up. “I knew you’d help me.”

“Don’t thank me yet. I haven’t done anything. I’ll call you when I hear something.”

After Jake escorted Jed to the front door, said good-bye, and retreated to his office, Madge informed him that Bob Whitfield was on the phone for him. Jake litigated against most of the insurance defense lawyers in town, and Bob was the epitome of his breed—the man probably billed his clients more hours than any other lawyer in Jackson. But he also had the gift of convincing them it was for their own good. Bob never settled a case until the day before trial. Jake currently had only one case with Bob—Lillian Scott v. Taylor Trucking—so Bob had to be calling about that.

Jake had agreed to the representation because Lillian Scott was a single mother of two kids and only in her midthirties. She had become disabled when an eighteen-wheeler had run a traffic light and broadsided her car. She had missed three months of work recuperating, and her medical expenses were well in excess of $35,000. Her case was set for a jury trial next week.

“Bob,” Jake said as he answered the phone. “Good morning.”

“Good morning, Jake,” came the bland reply. “I want to talk to you about this Scott case. It’s set for trial next week, and my client is interested in settling.”

Jake knew it was too early for Bob to be offering to settle. The trial was still eight days away. That could only mean that Bob’s client was pushing to settle before incurring additional fees in final trial preparation.

“I’m not sure Ms. Scott wants to settle,” Jake said.

The first rule in settlement negotiations was to never let your opponent know you want to settle. The second rule was to remind them how good your case is. And that’s what Jake proceeded to do.

“Dr. Jones testified in his deposition that Ms. Scott has a 28 percent permanent disability to her right leg and may never be able to walk without a cane. She’s incurred thirty-five thousand dollars in medical expenses and another ten thousand in lost income. Your client doesn’t have enough money to settle this case.”

“My client is prepared to make a very reasonable offer,” Bob replied. “Of course, your client will have to release my client from any further liability.”

“Like I said, I’m not sure Ms. Scott wants to settle, but tell me the offer, and I will talk with her about it.”

“I have been authorized to offer one hundred fifty thousand dollars for a full compromise and settlement of Ms. Scott’s claim,” Bob responded in his best defense-lawyer voice.

A hundred fifty thousand! Jake screamed in his mind. “You know I cannot recommend that offer to my client. It’s way too low.”

The third rule was to never take the first offer.

“That’s all I’ve got, Jake. Talk to your client, and get back to me before lunch on Wednesday,” Bob requested. “After that the offer will be withdrawn.”

“I’ll talk to her and call you back. ’Bye, Bob.”

“Good-bye.”

Jake hung up and leaned back in his chair. He smiled with satisfaction as he thought about a big payday just around the corner. He pressed the intercom button.

“Yes,” came Madge’s voice in response.

“Get Ms. Scott on the phone for me.”

In the chaos of the day, while handling the details for Lillian Scott and several other clients, Jake forgot all about his promise to Jed McClellan.








CHAPTER FOUR



Miami International Airport

The Monday 10:00 a.m. flight from Cancun, Mexico, taxied to a stop at gate T-15. The passengers on board reluctantly began to disembark. They slowly made their way up the Jetway and into the concourse that led to the customs gate and the remainder of the airport. Their sunburned skin couldn’t hide the displeasure on their faces as reality set in that their Caribbean frolic was over.

The female U.S. customs agent who worked the morning shift had seen the same expressions of shock a thousand times. Most of the passengers were honeymooners or couples returning from a romantic rendezvous. She knew that by tomorrow they would be back to their mundane lives and boring jobs. The cool ocean breezes, sun-drenched beaches, and drinks with little umbrellas would become a distant memory. Only the honeymooners would keep the spark that came with the romantic getaway, but just for a few more months. After that they, too, would fall into a regular routine, and the spontaneity would disappear.

One passenger in particular caught her attention. Although he was dressed just like the other tourists—Bermuda shorts, floral shirt, leather sandals, Oakley sunglasses—the fact that he was traveling alone from a romantic venue made him stand out from the rest of the passengers. Also, his complexion and dark hair indicated he was from somewhere in South America, and most of the other passengers were Americans.

She checked the information and photograph on his passport and found them to be in order. She searched his duffel bag and found nothing suspicious. There was no reason to detain him. As she scanned his passport into the computer, she made sure he stood where the surveillance cameras would record his picture. Then she allowed him to pass through the gate into the main terminal. He quickly mixed with the crowd…and disappeared.

 

En route from Pittsburgh to St. Louis

Ed Burke stared thoughtfully out the small window in the executive cabin as Air Force Two cruised through the air thirty-five thousand feet above Ohio. He reminisced about his first meeting with Randolph Winston, and at the same time he wondered what would happen if he welshed on the deal. Or if that was even a possibility. He didn’t reach a resolution before Ben Tobias startled him from his daydreaming.

“We’ll be in St. Louis in a few minutes,” Ben advised. “Do you need anything before we land?”

Ed turned his attention away from the window. “I’m all right, Ben. Where do we go after St. Louis?”

“We’ll spend the night in San Francisco, and then we have several days along the West Coast.”

“Are our California numbers still up?”

“Foster doesn’t have a prayer in California,” Ben said confidently. “You’re leading by 14 percentage points.”

“Good. That’s good. Let me know when we’re fifteen minutes out of St. Louis.”

Ben returned to the forward cabin, and Ed began to watch the campaign staffers as they scurried around the interior of the airplane, talking on wireless telephones to campaign chairpersons in Texas and California and soliciting endorsements from members of Congress. Ed watched the activity and wondered how much each endorsement cost the Federalists. One million? Two million? Senator Mulvaney from New York probably squeezed them for five million. Thirty-four electoral votes sure are expensive, Ed thought. He chuckled to himself and pivoted back toward the window. He really didn’t care how much they paid. The Federalists had promised him the presidency, and it didn’t matter to him what it cost them.

It had all started back in 1990. Ed had already distinguished himself among his colleagues in the House of Representatives. However, he was from a sparsely populated Southern state, and he knew the Democratic party leaders had no plans to put him on any national ballots. Although he aspired to the Oval Office, he saw no realistic chance of obtaining it and became frustrated.

At the pinnacle of his frustration, Ed was contacted by Randolph Winston. He agreed to travel to New York to meet with the Federalists. They told Ed they needed someone to work with them on several delicate matters but couldn’t go into details. Randolph assured Ed that if he cooperated, he would be president of the United States one day.

Edward Burke didn’t immediately commit to work for the Federalists. He told Randolph, Pierce, and Milton he’d have to think about it for a few days and talk with his wife. But he left New York that cold winter day knowing what his decision would be. He wanted to be president at any cost, so he sold his soul. And he thought the price was rather cheap.

What Ed Burke hungered for more than anything else was power. Ever since he’d tasted the lifestyle inside the Washington Beltway as a freshman congressman, he had wanted more. The state dinners, the trips to exotic locations, under the guise of congressional research, and the women. Young, beautiful women, who were always willing to satisfy the needs of a congressman. He knew that Millie discovered his infidelity quickly after his first tryst, but he didn’t care. And Millie soon began to look the other way.

Soon after his agreement with the Federalists, money was paid to the right people, and Ed was selected as the vice-presidential running mate to presidential candidate Roger Harrison. Four years of national exposure as second-in-command would make him hard to beat in the subsequent election, the Federalists said, and they had been correct. Everything was going according to plan…

Now, as the pilot announced their descent into St. Louis, Ed spotted the Gateway Arch. In fifteen minutes he would be shaking hands with supporters—none of whom he would ever see again—who had been paid a thousand dollars each by the Federalists to be in attendance. The television cameras would capture all the festivities and broadcast them around the country on the evening news. The crowd would erupt with applause when the senator from Missouri introduced him as the next president of the United States. It would all be so beautifully orchestrated that someone might believe it was real.

 

Memphis International Airport

A Latin American man exited Northwest flight 708 from Miami at gate C-25 unnoticed. He glanced at the large round clock over the Starbucks in the concourse. It was 12:15 p.m. He’d gained an hour from Miami, so he set his watch to central time. The television monitors hanging from the ceiling in the waiting areas by each gate broadcast the same CNN-Airport news program as he walked up the concourse to the main terminal. He rode the moving walkway toward the ticket counters on the main floor and headed to the exit. The signs overhead pointed to a baggage-claim area down the escalators, but he had no luggage. All the supplies he needed had already been acquired, per his instructions, and were waiting for him in Memphis.

He had changed clothes in Miami, discarding the floral shirt and shorts for a black T-shirt and khaki slacks. Now he exited through the automatic sliding doors into the oppressive humidity and heat synonymous with August in Memphis. He would be glad when this contract was completed. It was hot in Colombia, but not like this.

Crossing over the taxi lane, he headed toward the parking garage, which was primarily reserved for short-term or overnight parking. He could have ridden the shuttle bus to Lot B in the long-term parking area but chose to walk instead. The fewer people he came in contact with, the better. The walk through the parking garage was not very far. He had already spotted the black Chevy S10 pickup, waiting for him in slot 17 as planned.

Glancing around quickly, he reached under the front left fender and retrieved a small metal case held in place by a magnet. Inside the case was a key to the truck, which he used to unlock the door and start the ignition. Once inside, he found a brown envelope under the front seat. Inside the envelope was a map, a picture of his mark, cash, a wireless phone, and a hotel key to room 115 at the Plantation Hotel in Brownsville, Tennessee.

Calmly he exited the parking lot, paid the toll, and merged with the traffic on the I-240 loop around Memphis. The route from the airport to his hotel was highlighted on the map in yellow. He would be at his hotel room, where the remainder of his supplies waited, in forty-five minutes.

 

The Flying J truck stop, north of Washington DC

It was just past 10:00 p.m. eastern time Monday when Dalton Miller parked his car and walked into the Flying J truck stop at the Powder Mill Road exit off I-95.

The Flying J didn’t have the best food in the area, but Dalton knew he wouldn’t see anyone from inside the Beltway at this greasy spoon. The sun had disappeared behind the western horizon two hours ago, and the lights inside the diner were dim. Dalton had been here many times and had grown accustomed to the sound of diesel trucks in the parking lot. This environment was perfect for his kind of work. The roar of the trucks made it impossible for someone to overhear a conversation.

An old girlfriend had put him in contact with someone from the Justice Department—a disenchanted junior attorney who was willing to talk. The attorney had agreed to meet with Dalton one time, but after that Dalton was on his own. All Dalton knew was that the attorney’s name was Joe.

Dalton glanced down at his clothing. He’d purposefully dressed as though he’d just climbed down from one of the rigs idling in the parking lot. His short stature, robust waistline, jeans, and large belt buckle allowed him to blend in with the other patrons. He covered his brown hair with a white and blue Roadway Trucking cap. He knew the other patrons wouldn’t notice him as he nonchalantly entered the restaurant and selected the last booth in the back.

From this vantage point he could see the parking lot through the slits in the vinyl miniblinds and also the front door of the restaurant. He removed a pack of Marlboro Light 100s from his shirt pocket and shook it gently until one cigarette slid partially out. He lit it, took one long, hard drag, and then contributed to the cloud of smoke lingering around the ceiling.

When Dalton was on his second cigarette, Joe entered the truck stop. The young attorney was easy to recognize. He was the only person in the restaurant wearing a necktie…and wringing his hands.

Dalton motioned for Joe to join him at a booth against the back wall. A waitress in a pink-and-white polyester uniform, with Betty inscribed on her silver name tag, brought two cups of coffee and disappeared.

“I can’t believe I’m here talking with you,” Joe began almost before he’d taken his seat. He took one sip of the hot liquid, as if attempting to calm his nerves. “I’ve never done anything like this before.”

Somehow Dalton believed him. He was younger than Dalton had expected. He’d probably graduated from law school less than three years ago and still had grandiose ideas about changing the world, starting with the U.S. Justice Department.

Dalton made it easy for the young man to talk. “You don’t have to do this if you don’t want to.”

“I know, but I want to. I’m sick and tired of these politicians thinking they’re above the law.”

It wouldn’t take much to keep the attorney talking. He was ready to explode.

“I know what you mean,” Dalton encouraged. “Those guys think they’re better than people like you and me. Somebody has to put a stop to it now, or it will never end.”

“You’re right. That’s why I’m here. I’ve got something that I think will help put one of those guys in his place.” Joe nervously scanned the room.

“Nobody’s watching us,” Dalton assured him. “And I’m not going to tell anyone that you were here.”
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